
Meeting of:  Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: Thursday, 28th November, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

5  Minutes 4 - 8

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Communities, Regeneration 
and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, held 18 
September 2019.

Public Document Pack



6  Community Safety 9 - 21

Head of Community Safety and Greater Manchester Police to report

7  Homelessness and Housing Allocations Business Transformation 
Project 

Head of Strategic Housing Service to report

8  Dippy on Tour 

Assistant Director (Information Customers and Communities) to report

9  Economy Directorate Plans 2019/2020 - Quarter 2 Performance 
Update 

22 - 44

Second quarter 2019/2020 (July – September) performance 
information – Economy Directorate

10  Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance 
Update 

45 - 58

Second quarter 2019/2020 (July – September) performance 
information – Neighbourhoods Directorate

11  Work Programme 2019/2020 59 - 61

To note the Committee’s Work Programme 2019/2020

Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Members
Councillor Tom Besford Councillor Jacqueline Beswick
Councillor Susan Emmott Councillor Andy Kelly
Councillor Daniel Meredith Councillor Angela Smith
Councillor June West Councillor Peter Williams
Councillor Peter Winkler Councillor Sameena Zaheer



For more information about this meeting, please contact: 
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 18th September 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Meredith (in the Chair); Councillors Beswick, Susan Emmott, 
Hartley (substituting for Councillor Besford), Kelly, Angela Smith, Winkler and 
Zaheer.

OFFICERS: M. Widdup (Director of Neighbourhoods), D. Bowler (Assistant Director – 
Place), S. Ayres (Economy Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Blundell (Cabinet Member for Regeneration, 
Business, Skills and Employment), Councillor D. Williams (Chair of Middleton 
Township Committee), G. Swarbrick (Chief Executive – Rochdale Boroughwide 
Housing), P. Ambrose (Rochdale Town Centre Management Company), V. Davies 
(Middleton Town Centre Management Company) and three members of the public.

APOLOGIES
14. Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Besford, West and Peter 
Williams

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
15. There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
16. Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meetings of the Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held, 20th June 2019 and 28th August 
2019 be approved as correct records.

ROCHDALE BOROUGHWIDE HOUSING
17. The Chief Executive of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) attended the 
meeting, at the request of the Chair, to provide a presentation to the Committee’s 
members that described the background to the establishment of RBH as an 
independent Mutual Housing Society, following the transfer stock transfer, to them, of 
approximately 13,000 social housing homes in Rochdale, in March 2012.

The presentation focused on work that RBH was doing to progress its services for 
Rochdale’s residents.

a. Growing Together: delivering the right mix and quality of homes to meet the 
demands of Rochdale’s tenants and residents. 

b. Thriving Together: helping to make Rochdale a desirable place in wish to 
work, thrive and age including via a special range of new and tailored housing 
services.

c. Improving Together: to improve the way in which RBH works (internally and 
externally) with a clear focus on value for money

d. Building Rochdale’s Economy: to strengthen RBH’s commitment to and 
maximise the impact of the development of procurement opportunities and 
assisting in the development of inclusive growth across Greater Manchester.

e. Partnership working: to work with partner organisations including Rochdale 
Borough Council and other social housing providers that operated within and 
without Rochdale.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



The Committee in considering the presentation sought clarification on a number of 
matters including: the future of the seven high rise housing blocks (‘seven sisters’) at 
College Bank, Rochdale. A Member of the Committee expressed concern at the lack 
of response that she, and other Councillors, were receiving from RBH staff to queries 
they were putting forward on behalf of their constituents, many of whom were RBH 
tenants. The Committee asked how many tenants were presently be waiting to be 
transferred and why residents who resided, say, in Heywood or Middleton had to 
travel to Rochdale to be interviewed about their tenancy or a potential tenancy. The 
Committee requested clarification on RBH’s allocations policy and how long tenants 
and potential tenants could expect to remain in a particular ‘allocation band’. A 
member asked what role the Council played in relation to the development of RBH’s 
lettings policy.

A Member sought clarification on RBH’s current financial situation relating to its 
current levels of surpluses, balances and the rational for pay-rises for senior staff at 
RBH.

The Committee sought clarification on RBH’s governance arrangements expressing 
concern at the reduced Council membership of RBH’s governing Representative 
Body.

The Chief Executive of RBH endeavoured to answer Member’s questions and 
undertook to provide written answers to those questions that required more detailed 
answers.

Resolved:
1. The presentation by the Chief Executive of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing 

be noted and welcomed
2. The Assistant Director (Place) be requested to submit a report to a future 

meeting of the Committee, detailing the Council’s Lettings Policy.

TOWN CENTRE MANAGEMENT COMPANIES - 2019/20 GRANT
18. The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy regarding grant 
funding for the Borough’s town centre management companies. Rochdale Council 
had in place Grant Funding Agreements with both Rochdale Town Centre 
Management Company and Middleton Town Centre Management Company for 
2019/20. The Agreements for these discretionary grants detailed the activity which 
the grant funding will support, the conditions attached to the award of the grant and 
monitoring requirements.

The Committee was informed that Town Centre Management Companies had been 
established across the country for over 20 years. Their principal aim was to promote 
the viability and vitality of town centres through active partnerships of the 
public/private and voluntary sectors.  Each town centre and their needs and 
opportunities were different and therefore structures, aims and objectives and 
governance were unique to each town.

Since April 2019, Rochdale Town Centre Management Company is now trading as 
Rochdale BID (Business Improvement District) following a successful ballot of town 
centre business and organisations. This generated £195,780 in a levy on top of 
business rates paid by town centre occupiers of properties with a rateable value of 
over £12,000. The Council’s levy payment for 2019/20 is £36,264.  This is the largest 
levy payment in the town centre and contributes to an overall budget of £215,780 for 
the BID in 2019/20. Councillor Brett represents the Council on the Company Board.

Page 5



In terms of Middleton Town Centre management Company they received a grant, via 
the Council’s Economic Affairs team of £31,500, a grant from Middleton Township of 
£10,000 and a grant from Middleton Township for the Christmas Lights ‘switch-on’ 
event in the sum of £3000.

Representatives of the two Town Centre Management Companies, the Chair of 
Middleton Township Committee and the Cabinet Member with responsibility for the 
Regeneration, Business, Skills and Employment portfolio, addressed the 
Committee and answered various questions put forward by Members.

Resolved.
That the report be noted.

ROCHDALE SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP COMMUNITY SAFETY 
PLAN 2019 - 2022
19. The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods that 
presented the council’s revised Community Safety Plan which was formulated and 
delivered by the Community Safety Partnership. The Committee, in considering the 
report, noted that it had been submitted to the Council’s Cabinet on 27th August 2019, 
where the recommendations contained therein were approved.

The Community Safety Plan is designed to support the development of simpler plans 
that are accessible and customer facing. The revised Plan was informed by 
information from a residents’ survey in 2018 and a strategic threat assessment that 
included qualitative and quantitative data to assess the scale, trend, intelligence 
assessment and knowledge of themes.

The themes considered in the Plan included; Residential Burglary; Serious Violent 
Crime; Child Sexual Exploitation; Youth related anti-social behaviour; Modern 
Slavery; Domestic Abuse; Organised Crime; Substance Abuse – including drugs and 
new psychoactive substances; Night time economy and issues in our town centres; 
Community tensions; Sexual offences and Cyber Enable Fraud.

The Director of Neighbourhoods reported that the Plan had previously been 
endorsed by the Community Safety Partnership with five priority areas so that people 
and communities in Rochdale will be: Free from the harm of domestic abuse and 
violence; Free from the harm of organised crime and exploitation; Safe from 
crime and antisocial behaviour; Able to enjoy themselves in the town centres; 
Able to live, work, learn and socialise in harmony. The Director reported that a 
new chair of the Safer Communities Partnership had been appointed: 
Superintendent Rick Hunt of Greater Manchester Police. In response to a 
question from a Member the Director of Neighbourhoods advised that he 
would be attending the Committee’s next meeting on 21st November 2019, 
together with Superintendent Hunt to discuss with the Committee the five 
priority areas detailed above. In addition the Director of Neighbourhoods 
undertook to include I his report to the Committee details of measures being 
undertaken to counter the high levels of domestic violence reported across the 
Borough.

A Member referred to the relatively high number of suicides in the Borough. 
The Director of Neighbourhoods undertook to liaise with the Coroners Service 
about this matter and report back to a future meeting of the Committee.

Page 6



Resolved:
(1) The Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership Community Safety Plan 
2019 – 2022 be endorsed.
(2) The Director of Neighbourhoods and Superintendent Hunt, the Chair of 
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership, be requested to attend the 
Committee’s next meeting, on 21st November 2019, to discuss the five priority 
areas detailed in the Community Safety Plan 2019 - 2022.
(3) The Director of Neighbourhoods be requested to submit a report to a 
future meeting of the Committee, in consultation with the Coroners Service, 
relating to suicide prevention. 

CLIMATE CHANGE
20. Further to the Council meeting held on 17th July 2019, where Members adopted a 
motion relating to Climate Change (minute 15(a) refers), the Director of 
Neighbourhoods gave a presentation updating Committee members on measures in 
place both in Rochdale, and the wider Greater Manchester region, to tackle this 
important issue.

The Committee was informed that on 8th October 2018, the United Nations 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) had published a report on the 
impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global 
greenhouse gas emission. The report warned that the risk of ‘catastrophic climate 
change’ including extreme heat, drought, flooding and climate-related poverty would 
significantly increase unless global warming could be kept to a maximum of 1.5°C. 
The report’s authors found that global warming is likely to reach 1.5°C between 2030 
and 2052 if it continues to increase at the current rate and say that urgent and 
unprecedented action is required to meet the target.

The Greater Manchester Mayor organised a Green Summit that was held in March 
2019 at which a 5-Year Environment Plan was launched. The Plan’s ambitions 
requires urgent action from everyone in Greater Manchester – from businesses, the 
public sector, and local residents. The Plan set out how Greater Manchester’s local 
authorities and health sector would work to reduce environmental impact (of our 
buildings, vehicle fleets and procurement processes, in particular).there was a need 
to increase the efficiency of how businesses heat and power their buildings and 
produce goods/services, reducing the environmental impact of how their goods and 
staff travel, and installing renewable energy and heating technologies at their 
premises.

The key aspects of the Greater Manchester Plan included more efficient use of 
energy supplies – the source of power and heat buildings and transport; increasing 
local renewable electricity generation, de-carbonising how buildings are heated and 
increasing the diversity and flexibility of energy supplies. Another key aspect was 
travel and transport – to be achieved through increased use of public transport and 
active travel routes; phasing out fossil-fuelled private vehicles and replacing them 
with zero emission alternatives; tackling the most polluting vehicles on the roads; 
establishing a zero emissions bus fleet; de-carbonising freight transport and shifting 
to rail and water transport.

In terms of future action it was proposed that a draft strategy, setting how Rochdale 
Borough will contribute to the Greater Manchester five Year Environment Plan and 
achieve the target by 2028 would be presented to future meetings of this Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet. Closer links would be developed with 

Page 7



partners and local businesses. It was proposed that a Working Group be established 
comprising Members of the Council and representatives of outside agencies. Also 
the development of a ‘climate emergency’ budget for the Borough setting out the 
level of investment needed to achieve established targets linking into discussions at 
Greater Manchester level around the Environment Plan. 

Resolved;
The Committee notes and welcomes the Director of Neighbourhoods’ presentation 
and further notes his commitment for further action in relation to this matter.

WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020
21. In considering the Committee’s Work Programme for 2019/20 it was requested 
that a report be presented to the Committee’s meeting, scheduled to be held on 20th 
February 2020, regarding the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and a report 
on the Supplementary Planning Document relating to the future use of College Bank 
Flats, Rochdale, prior to the submission of the document to the Council’s Cabinet.

Resolved:
That the Committee’s Work Programme be amended to reflect the two issues 
referred to above.

Page 8



Agenda 
Item

Report to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 28th November 2019
Portfolio Neighbourhoods, 

Community & Culture
Report Author Mark Dalzell / Chris 

Highton
Public Public

Community Safety

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report reviews the progress and approach to the Council’s community 
safety priorities delivered by the Community Safety Partnership

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members recognise and acknowledge the progress to date of the 
Community Safety Partnership in progressing the Community Safety Plan 
for the Borough.

2.2 Members review and consider the delivery plans for the priority areas.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1 The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) has a duty under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to draw up and implement a strategy for reducing crime 
and disorder in their area.

3.2 The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 
Regulations 2007 set out the way in which the responsible authorities should 
carry out their functions as a CSP under Section 6 of the Act, and require 
the preparation of a partnership plan for the local government area, setting 
out the CSP’s priorities.

3.3 The current plan covers the period of 2015 – 2018.  A new plan is required 
to outline the priorities that are to be the focus of delivery plans by 
responsible authorities.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



4. Key Points for Consideration

4.1 The Community Safety Plan for the Council was approved by Cabinet on 
the 27th August 2019 following a Strategic Threat Assessment to determine 
the local priority areas. 

4.2 The revised plan has been informed by information from the residents’ 
survey in 2018 and a strategic threat assessment that included qualitative 
and quantitative data to assess the scale, trend, intelligence assessment 
and knowledge of themes.

4.3 Themes considered included:

 Residential Burglary
 Serious Violent Crime
 Child Sexual Exploitation
 Youth related anti-social behaviour
 Modern Slavery
 Domestic Abuse
 Organised Crime
 Substance Abuse – including drugs and new psychoactive 

substances
 Night time economy and issues in our town centres
 Community tensions
 Sexual offences
 Cyber Enable Fraud

4.4 Workshops with the responsible authorities ranked the thematic areas 
using a Management of Risk in Law Enforcement (MoRiLE) assessment 
model to rank the priority areas and create agreed priority work areas for 
the formulation of delivery plans to achieve the desired outcomes of the 
strategy.

4.5 The plan describes five priority areas to ensure that people and 
communities in Rochdale will be :

• Free from the harm of domestic abuse and violence
• Free from the harm of organised crime
• Safe from crime and antisocial behaviour
• Able to enjoy themselves in the town centres
• Able to live, work, learn and socialise in harmony

4.6 The plan takes account of and links to the priorities in The Police and 
Crime Plan, ‘Standing Together’ (Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority) and supports the outcomes identified by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the outcomes described in the Corporate Plan 2019 
– 2022.

Page 10



4.7 Delivery plans for the five areas are being developed by priority sub 
groups under the Safer Communities Partnership Board to take account 
of existing work streams, including the work of Safeguarding boards, to 
avoid duplication and to share information to maintain and further develop 
a partnership approach to community safety.  

4.8 PROGRESS TO DATE

4.8.1 Domestic Abuse

4.8.1.1 Specific actions have been developed by the council and partners to 
deliver on the agreed outcomes identified as part of the strategic 
assessment.

4.8.1.2 Performance measures are under development and currently exist in draft 
form.

4.8.1.3 Details of the measures being undertaken to counter the high levels of 
domestic violence reported across the borough are contained in the 
current delivery plan presented in appendix 1.

4.8.1.4 A new domestic abuse steering group, with appropriate terms of 
reference, has been established to drive forward progress on a range of 
strategic issue relating to domestic abuse and its impact upon families 
and communities.

4.8.2 Organised Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

4.8.2.1 The two priority areas of Organised Crime and Anti-Social behaviour have 
been combined under a Reducing Crime and ASB strategic group.  This 
is due to the duplication of professionals involved and the overlapping 
work streams involved with each priority area.

4.8.2.2 The reducing crime and ASB group has ownership of the RSCP statutory 
responsibility for developing and implementing the reducing re-offending 
strategy and substance misuse strategy.

4.8.2.3 This priority is being Chaired by the newly appointed Chief Inspector Andy 
Riley of GMP.

4.8.2.4 The current Crime and ASB delivery plan is attached in Appendix 2

4.8.3 Town Centres

4.8.3.1 A delivery plan has been developed for this priority and has led to the 
creation of a Rochdale Town Centre Operational Group.  This is a multi-
agency group that meets every two weeks 

4.8.3.2 The Town Centre Operational Support Group has been established to 
deal with a range operational issues relating to Rochdale Town Centre to 

Page 11



ensure that it is a safe, vibrant and attractive place that has a sense of 
identity, which is family orientated and welcoming to all. It must also be a 
place where businesses are allowed to develop and grow. 

4.8.3.3 Actions will focus on:

 offering support and outreach work to individuals with complex 
needs such as substance miss-use and mental health issues. 

 identifying issues of Homelessness in the Town Centre and 
ensuring that the appropriate referrals and support are in place. 

 Engaging with Town Centre stakeholders such as the Town Centre 
Management Company, Rochdale Business Improvement District 
(BID) and Town Centre businesses.

 effectively sharing information for the purpose of reducing crime 
and disorder in the Town Centre. 

4.8.3.4 The current delivery plan is attached in appendix 3

4.8.4 Living, working, learning and socialising in harmony

4.8.4.1 A new community cohesion, resilience and integration priority group has 
been established to:

 To help develop cohesive and resilient communities and promote 
integration.

 To better manage and understand the needs and expectations of 
communities.

 To encourage and facilitate greater levels of community 
engagement, dialogue and participation. 

 To build on existing and develop new partnerships across the 
agencies and within communities.

 To commission, advise and support partners and community based 
organisations in the development and delivery of activities which 
contribute towards the priority groups objectives in the Borough of 
Rochdale

 To report to the Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership Board.

4.8.4.2 They key aims and objectives are:

 Effectively monitor tension indicators within communities by 
incorporating the information provided by key stakeholders and 
further developing the means to gather and collate information.

 Be able to recognise normal or “healthy” levels of tension and not 
inhibit freedom of speech. 

 Challenge and respond to divisive narratives e.g. hate crime and 
other complex safeguarding vulnerabilities.

Page 12



 Support the local and national strategies around cohesion, 
resilience, integration and safeguarding vulnerable persons / 
communities.

 Work together to promote a borough where people, whatever their 
background, live, work, learn and socialise together, based on 
shared rights, responsibilities and opportunities. 

 Promote a borough, where many religions, cultures and opinions 
are celebrated, underpinned by a shared set of values that 
champion tolerance, freedom and equality of opportunity

 Support new and emerging communities to integrate and improve 
communities’  ability to adapt to migration

4.8.4.3 The delivery plan is attached in appendix 4.

4.9 Alternatives Considered

None

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 The Safer Communities Partnership delivers the community safety 
priorities with existing staffing and daily operational activities of services.  
Grant funding for projects is applied for annually from the combined 
authority in the form of a Police and Crime Grant.  Other grants that are 
applied for annually include, voluntary and community sector grant fund 
and grant support for the community based domestic abuse service.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

There are risks associated with community safety that must be mitigated 
through a partnership response to emerging threats and intelligence.  
The Community Safety Plan is reviewed annually to ensure that the 
priorities are aligned appropriately.

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, as amended by the 
Police and Justice Act 2006, requires responsible authorities to consider 
crime and disorder (including antisocial behaviour and other behaviour 
adversely affecting the local environment); and the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances in the exercise of all their duties, activities 
and decision-making. This means that in all policies, strategies and 
service delivery there is a need to consider the likely impact on crime and 
disorder.

The CSP must implement and monitor strategies for reducing crime and 
disorder, reducing re-offending and tackling substance misuse.

7. Consultation
Page 13



7.1 Residents Survey -  2018
Communities, Regeneration and Environment O & S – 21 November 2018
Safer Communities’ Partnership Board – 23rd April 2019
Cabinet - 27th August 2019

Background Papers Place of Inspection

None N/A

For Further Information Contact: Mark Dalzell / Chris Highton
mark.dalzell@rochdale.gov.uk
Christopher.highton@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 924328 01706 924360

Page 14

mailto:mark.dalzell@rochdale.gov.uk


ROCHDALE SAFER  
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP
Protecting and strengthening communities and places
Our plan 2019 - 2022

Safer Rochdale
Rochdale • Middleton • Heywood • Pennines

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   1 25/06/2019   10:15

P
age 15



We are confident that the new 
Community Safety Plan will help us to 
respond appropriately to current and 
emerging issues that affect our local 
and diverse communities. 

Our approach is simple - it’s about 
cooperation, people behaving in ways 
that have a positive impact on our 
borough and working together to tackle 
negative behaviour. 

Everyone has a responsibility to protect 
and strengthen our communities and 
places.

We are committed to ensuring our 
communities remain confident and 
supported, feel safe and are safe. 

Rochdale faces significant challenges 
and our partnership plan ensures that 
we are tackling the issues that have the 
most impact on our people and places. 

We have successfully developed 
partnership working and continue to 
improve community engagement and 
participation, to deliver reductions in 
crime and antisocial behaviour and 
improved community safety.

Foreword

Steve Rumbelow,  
Chief Executive,  
Rochdale Borough Council

Neil Evans,  
Territorial Commander,  
Rochdale, Oldham and Tameside

2 3

The borough of Rochdale is one of ten local authority 
areas in Greater Manchester and part of the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA). Sitting 
within the north east section of the region, the 
borough is strategically-placed between a number of 
important locations and is undergoing a huge, positive 
transformation. 

According to the Office for National Statistics’ 2017 
mid-year population estimates, there are 218,400 
people living in the borough of Rochdale.

The borough is divided between five ‘township’ areas – 
Rochdale north, Rochdale south, Heywood, Middleton, 
and Pennines. Each area has its own distinct identity 
and character and the townships contain several other 
communities.

Although there are areas of relative wealth within 
the borough, there are a number of areas that fall 
within the most deprived in the country. The normal 
challenges associated with areas of high deprivation 
can be found in these areas.

There are also areas with high levels of diversity 
within the borough and in some wards more than  
40 per cent of residents are from a BME background.

 

Introduction

Welcome to Rochdale’s Community Safety Plan. 

The plan sets out how we can make the borough a safe and welcoming place 
for everyone.

We all need to behave in ways that have a positive impact on those that live,  
work or visit.

We all need to work together to tackle behaviour that has a negative impact  
on our borough.

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   2-3 25/06/2019   10:15

P
age 16



Our aims
Helping each other to feel safe -  
Assisting those living in Rochdale homes and neighbourhoods, as well 
as those who work or visit the borough.

Strengthening our sense of community -  
Encouraging strong and positive relationships between people from 
different backgrounds and creating a feeling of belonging in our 
neighbourhoods.

Increasing confidence in our response to crime and disorder -  
Ensuring that people are happy with the way that we deal with 
offenders and support victims of crime.

Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership (RSCP)

4 5

Priorities and Themes

People and communities in Rochdale will be:

•  Free from the harm of domestic abuse  
and violence

•  Free from the harm of organised crime  
and exploitation  

• Safe from crime and antisocial behaviour

• Able to enjoy themselves in the town centres

•  Able to live, work, learn and socialise in 
harmony

Our work will be focused on:

• Raising awareness

• Enabling challenge

• Changing behaviours

• Safeguarding vulnerable people

• Providing support for victims

• Dealing with offenders and reoffenders

Our Priorities Our Themes

Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership uses a variety data to understand the issues 
that cause most harm and that matter most to our residents, including strategic threat 
assessments and resident surveys. 

Strategic threat assessments look at crime rates and volumes to tell us what crime types 
pose a threat to communities. Resident surveys gather the views of local people about crime 
and safety in the borough of Rochdale and Greater Manchester. The information helps us to 
determine our priorities.

We have identified five priorities for protecting and strengthening communities and places. 
These are the areas that really need our attention, although we will continue to address other 
crime and community safety issues.  

We have also identified six themes around which our work will be focused.

Rochdale is required to have a Safer Communities Partnership, by law.

The Partnership is made up of representatives from Rochdale Borough Council, the police, the fire service, the probation service, 
the local clinical commissioning group and other organisations.

The Partnership supports the priorities set out in the Greater Manchester Police and Crime Plan.

The Partnership aims to tackle crime in the borough and the underlying causes of it.

The Partnership uses a mix of prevention and intervention activity as part of its policing and community safety work.

The Partnership shares money and resources to commission services and implement effective approaches.

Police and Crime Plan priorities
To keep people safe -  
For those who live, work, socialise and travel in Greater Manchester, 
as well as protecting those who are vulnerable.

To reduce harm and offending -  
Preventing antisocial and criminal behaviour by intervening earlier 
and rehabilitating offenders.

To strengthen communities and places -  
By helping to build resilient communities and strengthening the 
delivery of public assets.

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   4-5 25/06/2019   10:16

P
age 17



What is it?
Domestic abuse is any incident or pattern of incidents 
of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse that can have a psychological, 
physical, sexual, economic or emotional impact on 
another person.

Why is it important?
Domestic abuse is a cruel and complex crime that 
can affect anyone. Tackling domestic abuse ensures 
that lives are not destroyed and people do not have to 
endure physical and emotional scars.

 
 

What does success look like?
•  Children and adults understand about healthy 

relationships 

•  Families are able to effectively deal with and 
manage conflict 

•   Children and young people are protected from the 
effects of domestic abuse

•  Communities and agencies report and refer  
incidents of domestic abuse 

•  People who engage in domestic abuse are deterred 
from their activities and prosecuted

•  People who are at risk of or suffering domestic 
abuse are protected

•  Offenders engage in behaviour and lifestyle 
programmes to enable rehabilitation and minimise 
reoffending

•  Victims (including specific groups LGBT+, elderly 
etc.) and those impacted by domestic abuse are 
able to access services, support packages and safe 
accommodation

People and communities in Rochdale  
will be free from the harm of domestic abuse and violence

6 7

What is it?
Organised crime is crime that is planned, coordinated 
and conducted by people working together on a 
continuing basis, often for financial gain and involving 
violence, threat of violence, bribery and corruption.

Why is it important?
Organised crime can make communities fearful 
and divided and encourage other types of crime and 
antisocial behaviour. Disrupting organised crime 
ensures that people are not deprived of their security, 
prosperity and identity.

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

What does success look like?
•  Children and adults understand the reality and 

consequences of organised crime 

•  Children and young people are protected from 
becoming victims of exploitation

•  Communities and agencies report and support our 
work in disrupting organised crime 

•  People who support and benefit from participating 
in organised crime are deterred from their 
activities and prosecuted

•  Offenders engage in behaviour and lifestyle 
programmes to enable rehabilitation and minimise 
reoffending

•  Victims, witnesses and communities affected by 
serious and organised crime are able to access 
services and support packages 

People and communities in Rochdale  
will be free from the harm of organised crime and exploitation

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   6-7 25/06/2019   10:16

P
age 18



What is it?
Town centres have shops and can have major public 
transport hubs such as train or bus stations; public 
buildings such as town halls and libraries, statues and 
public spaces. Town centres are important to a local 
thriving economy.

Why is it important?
Town centres have a higher concentration of people, 
places and spaces that can make them vulnerable 
to crime and antisocial behaviour. Creating more 
desirable town centres attracts people to live, work 
and visit. 

 
 
 

What does success look like?
•  Buildings and places have good security making 

them less vulnerable to crime

•  Children and adults know what measures they can 
take to stay safe in the day and night time economy            

•  Persistent offenders are excluded from town 
centres and retail premises

• Licensed premises are managed and controlled

•  The transport network and traffic violations are 
managed and controlled to enable safer travel

•  The environment (including lighting, litter, graffiti) 
is managed and controlled so that town centres 
offer a positive experience  

•  Vulnerable individuals in town centres are able to 
access services and support packages

People and communities in Rochdale  
will be able to enjoy themselves in the town centres

What is it?
Crime and antisocial behaviour is illegal or 
unacceptable activity that can cause harm to 
individuals, communities or environments.  
Some activity is punishable by law. 

Why is it important?
Crime and antisocial behaviour has a negative 
impact on society and the economy and the disruption 
it causes can last for a long time. Tackling it helps to 
improve the quality of life for people that live, work  
or visit the borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What does success look like?
•  Children and adults understand about activities 

that can lead to crime and different types of crime 
(including hidden crimes)

•  People know what measures they can take to 
protect themselves from crime and antisocial 
behaviour

•  Families are supported to change behaviours of 
children and young people exhibiting problem 
behaviour

•  Individuals and families are supported to change 
behaviours and situations that precede offending

•  People who engage in nuisance behaviour and 
crime are deterred from their activities and 
prosecuted (in particular prejudice motivated 
crimes and more serious violent crimes)

•  Offenders engage in behaviour and lifestyle 
programmes to enable rehabilitation and minimise 
reoffending

•  Victims (in particular those at a higher risk 
of crime and repeat victims), witnesses and 
communities are able to access services and 
support packages

People and communities in Rochdale  
will be safe from crime and antisocial behaviour 

8 9

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   8-9 25/06/2019   10:16

P
age 19



•  Feeling of safety (at home, work, socialising, 
travelling)

•  Confidence in accessing the police in an emergency 
situation

•  Confidence in accessing the police, local authority or 
criminal justice service in a non-emergency situation

•  Satisfaction with services received (from the council, 
police or criminal justice system)

•  Satisfaction with cleanliness and maintenance of 
the area

• Feeling that there is a sense of community

Measuring success

We will monitor and report on these key indicators, so we know if the 
Partnership is meeting its aims.

We will also monitor our performance for each of the priorities.

Key indicators:

For more information visit rochdale.gov.uk

What is it?
Cohesive and integrated communities is about 
people – whatever their background – living, working, 
learning and socialising together, based on shared 
rights, responsibilities and opportunities. 

Why is it important?
When communities are divided along race, faith or 
socio-economic lines, this can lead to increased levels 
of fear, inequality, prejudice and conflict. Evidence 
shows that a less cohesive and integrated community 
faces challenges around economic, cultural and social 
opportunities.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What does success look like?
•  A borough where people, whatever their 

background, live, work, learn and socialise 
together, based on shared rights, responsibilities 
and opportunities 

•  A borough, where many religions, cultures and 
opinions are celebrated, underpinned by a shared 
set of values that champion tolerance, freedom and 
equality of opportunity 

•  Support is available for new and emerging 
communities that integrate and have an ability to 
adapt to migration

People and communities in Rochdale Borough  
will be able to live, work, learn and socialise in harmony 

10 11

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   10-11 25/06/2019   10:16

P
age 20



Safer Rochdale
Rochdale • Middleton • Heywood • Pennines

Associated Plan

Standing Together Plan for Greater Manchester: link to 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/police-plus-
fire/police-and-crime-plan

Finding out more about the RSCP

Email: community.safety@rochdale.gov.uk

Call: 0300 303 8878

Write to: 
Community Safety
Floor 2
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale
OL16 1XU

For more information and to report antisocial behaviour visit 
rochdale.gov.uk

8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2.indd   12 25/06/2019   10:16

P
age 21

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/police-plus-fire/police-and-crime-plan


Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting MeetingDateLegal
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration, Business, 
Skills & Employment

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document

Economy Directorate Plans 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 2 (1st July – 30th November 2019) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Economy Directorate 
Plan 2019-20

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices.

Reason for Recommendation

3. In accordance with the Council’s performance management framework, 
progress toward targets contained within Directorate Plans are to be reported 
to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each quarter. 

The Quarter 2 progress report for the Economy Directorate is attached at 
Appendix 1. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green: Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track

The appendix includes a commentary against actions that are showing red, 
amber or purple.

Appendix 2 provides information on the Q2 performance of Rochdale 
Development Agency.

Page 22

Agenda Item 9



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 Progress

Performance Overview

100% (11) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2019-20 are ongoing 
and due to be complete by the action due date. The chart below shows the 
overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of 
Quarter 2. 

Quarter 2 Summary

The Borough employment rate increased from 70.4% to 71.1% at end of Q1 
but fell back 1.2% in Q2. Rochdale has the 3rd lowest employment rate in 
Greater Manchester.  

Employment Links started delivering new support contracts from April and 
performance is meeting targets.  The Directorate is working with a new inward 
investor creating 100 jobs at Sandbrook Park Good progress continues to be 
made on the Rochdale Riverside scheme with occupier handover planned for 
Q3.  Working with Genr8, we are supporting occupiers to jobs at Rochdale 
Riverside.  The Talk English programme, delivered by the Council, provided 
24 courses for 428 residents using 15 community venues across the borough. 
12 new courses are due to start in October. 

The Council’s industrial units programme continued with the completion of the 
Logic scheme on Kingsway which is over 50% let by floorspace.  Other sites 
are being progressed at Oldham Road, Rochdale and Mossfield, Heywood.  4 

Page 23



new business commenced trading at Kingsway Business Park comprise 235 
jobs, of which 85 are new to the Borough.  The Dachser logistics facility 
became operational in mid-September in a 75,000 sq. ft. warehouse whilst 
Trade Mouldings have now completed their fit out and have relocated here, 
also in a 75,000 sq ft unit. Two new businesses (Commercial Blinds & Glazing 
and KP Industries) have taken space in the new Logic (small units) 
development.

In 2018/19 a total of 936 new homes were completed across the Borough.  Of 
these, 861 (92%) were completed on brownfield sites. The Council supported 
the GM Housing Joint Venture, Hive Homes, to submit its first planning 
application for Stainton Drive site, Langley.  A high value housing strategy was 
commissioned to identify Council and privately owned sites across the 
Borough.  

The Rochdale Uprising Mural Festival took place over the August bank holiday 
weekend, inspired by Rochdale’s co-operative heritage.   It saw 12 large scale 
murals painted across the town centre.  The event attracted widespread 
positive media and social coverage and continues to bring new people in to 
the town.   The indoor market closed as it was not financially viable and the 
Council considering alternative uses for the building.  RDA has since handed 
over responsibility for the outdoor market to a private operator.  

A planning application for the enabling works for Phase 2 of the Riverside 
development was submitted.  Further feasibility and funding discussions are 
taking place with Homes England and the GMCA to bring the Phase 2 and 
Central Retail Park sites forward.  Work is progressing to bring forward 
Residential led Masterplans within Heywood and Middleton town centres and 
around Rochdale and Castleton stations.  Land was acquired at Smithy Bridge 
for additional car parking.  

The Heritage Action Zone historic building repair grant scheme commenced 
and two properties secured grants on Drake Street, and South Parade.  A 
contractor was appointed to carry out grant funded repairs to Hopwood Hall. A 
bid was submitted for funding to convert the upper floor of the former Fire 
Station on Maclure Road to office space.  

The disposal of assets yielded receipts of £151,950.  The Council completed 
the acquisition of David Lloyd Leisure at Bowlee providing an annual income 
of £388,187 at a yield expected to exceed 9%.  Planning fee income is 
currently on target and Building Control taking external advice to review further 
income growth opportunities.  

Working with GMCA and others, the Directorate secured around £4.25m of 
devolved or grant funding for Borough regeneration projects.  The GM Local 
Industrial Strategy was published and includes a ‘new specialised Advanced 
Materials City’ located within the Northern Gateway employment area. 
Funding has been secured to work with Bury to develop this proposition 
further.  Alongside this, work on a 10 year Growth Plan is under development.  
However, delays to the GM Spatial Framework mean the next version of the 
Plan will now not be published for consultation until Summer 2020.  This has 

Page 24



4.3

4.4

implications for progressing our Site Allocations Plan.

Performance for planning decisions remains on target albeit there remain 
issues within the service on recruitment and retention.  A service redesign 
project within Planning is underway to look at opportunities for increased 
efficiency and income growth.  

Performance Issues

None

Alternatives Considered

Not applicable

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None

Risk and Policy Implications

None6.

Consultation

7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Appendix 1 – Economy 
Directorate Plan Actions Q2 
2019/20

Appendix 2 – RDA Delivery Plan 
Q2

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, , 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 25



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

 

E19001 Increase local employment 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19001.A 
Engage with people who are out of work to access employment through Employment Links and 
Working Well contracts. 

31 March 2020   

After 5 continuous quarters of improvement, the employment rate has fallen by a total of 2.1% in the last 2 quarters. This is against the regional and national rates 
which have both shown a slight increase. Rochdale still has the 3rd lowest employment rate in Greater Manchester. Rochdale, Oldham and Manchester are 
significantly behind the rest of GM. The gap with the GM average has increased by 0.8%. Employment Links careers and skills contracts are performing to target 
however, there are still significant issues with the GMCA Early Help  (keeping people in work) and Work and Health contracts (helping people with health conditions 
into work), but this is not unique to Rochdale. Not enough people are getting the help available due to a low level of referrals from the Job Centre and the need for 
the private sector providers to be more proactive in communities, with businesses and GPs. The team are working with a new inward investor creating 100 jobs at 
Sandbrook Park and we have started raising awareness of the new jobs to be created at Rochdale Riverside and the support available for borough residents to apply 
for them. 
 

E19001.B 
Provide training for front line council and partner staff to offer first stage jobs and skills support in 
community venues 

31 March 2020   

Training on the 'skills and work single point of access' and the support we can provide has been continued in this quarter. 32 additional community organisations 
and housing associations have been briefed and are now using the single point of access. This has significantly increased customer satisfaction and minimised the 
risk of an unemployed/unskilled resident not accessing available support. By the end of September 105 new referrals have been supported who would not have 
otherwise been helped. 

E19001.C Provide opportunities for learners to engage on courses 31 March 2020   

Talk English, funded by MHCLG and delivered by the Council's Economic Affairs Team are providing 24 courses using 15 community venues across the borough. 12 
new courses are due to start in October. Learners have increased from 108 learners in Q1 to 320 learners in Q2. 

E19001.D Recruit and provide training and retraining for new and existing volunteers 31 March 2020   

The number of trained volunteers has increased from 26 to 43 in this quarter. We are working with Hopwood Hall College and other training organisations to 
encourage all learners to progress onto a higher level of ESOL or other employment related training. 

E19001.E 
Attract new businesses by completing development of new industrial units at Kingsway Business 
Park, Mossfield and Oldham Road units by 2021 

31 March 2020   

The next project we will deliver is the Oldham Road site opposite Lock 50 with a start on site scheduled for late 2019. 

P
age 26



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

        

E19002 Create new jobs and safeguard jobs 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19002.A Create new jobs through Business engagement / liaison with existing businesses 31 March 2020   

78 new jobs have been secured to date 

E19002.B Protect jobs which are at risk in local businesses through engagement liaison 31 March 2020   

148 jobs have been safeguarded to date 

        

E19003 Attract inward investment and support business growth 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19003.A 
Co-deliver a portfolio of target companies across the Borough for an Account Management 
strategy for Local Businesses through visits to businesses. 

31 March 2020   

40 company visits have been carried out to date 

E19003.B 
Consult with 200 businesses per annum through Place Board Ambassadors scheme/Deliver up to 4 
events per annum, one each quarter. 

31 March 2020   

Events have taken place in June and September with over 100 attendees at each 

E19003.C £30m of private sector investment generated by assisted projects 31 March 2020   

P
age 27



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

This is an annual target. A full update will be provided at year end/Q4. 

        

E19004 Promote and say yes to good development 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19004.A Consult on Publication Site Allocations Plan Document 31 October 2019   

Work in progress - discussion to be had around next steps in respect of Local Plan in light of revised GMSF timescales 

E19004.B Issue planning permission for J19 link road scheme 31 December 2019   

Draft agreement in place pending final signatures from land owners 

E19004.C Submit Site Allocations Plan to PINS 31 March 2020   

Work in progress - discussion to be had around next steps in respect of Local Plan in light of revised GMSF timescales 

E19004.D 
Engage private sector to bring forward brownfield land for housing across the Borough e.g. Akzo 
Nobel, British Vita, Carcraft, Langley sites 

31 March 2020   

Preferred developer has been appointed to bring forward British Vita site with planning application expected late 2019. Planning submitted for Stainton Drive site in 
Langley and Homes England being supported to appoint a developer for Carcraft site, Castleton 

        

E19005 Create vibrant Town Centres. 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19005.A Produce annual action plan for Rochdale Town Centre Delivery Plan. 30 June 2019   

P
age 28



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

The action plan has now been agreed and will be updated every quarter 

E19005.B 
Launch Rochdale Town Centre Residential Strategy and Delivery mechanisms for CRP and RR 
Phase 2 

31 December 2019   

Results of Town Centre traffic modelling is awaited before commissioning further work. Funding discussions taking place with GMCA and Homes England to look at 
how we can deliver the Riverside Phase 2 and Central Retail Park sites. 

E19005.C Launch Rochdale Station Gateway Masterplan 31 December 2019   

 A preferred Masterplan option has been agreed and further detailed discussions taking place with TfGM and key stakeholders before bringing proposals before 
Members. Completion of Masterplan with phasing and delivery options expected by end of 2019 

E19005.D Agree Town Centre Masterplans for Heywood, Middleton and Littleborough 31 December 2019   

Work is taking place to finalise Middleton Masterplan for Township approval. A Draft Heywood Town Centre plan is to be presented to Members during Q3 

E19005.E Support developer to identify a viable scheme for Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 31 March 2020   

Enabling works contract for Phase 2 has been agreed and will commence during Q3. Work continues to find a viable scheme for the main development 

        

E19006 Make the most of our built, natural and historic environment. 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19006.A Consult on public realm designs for Town Hall Square 31 December 2019   

RIBA stage 2 bid being worked up for Town Hall Square. Viability is being challenged as cost has come in much higher than forecast. 

E19006.B Launch grant scheme for Heritage Action Zone 30 June 2019   

Frist two properties have secured grants on Drake Street, and South Parade 

P
age 29



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

E19006.C Prepare development brief for development of land around Tonge Hall 31 December 2019   

Change of Leadership at Academy has delayed decision to release land which is being progressed with new exec team 

E19006.D Implement agreed schedule of grant funded repair works to Hopwood Old Hall 31 March 2020   

Main contractor is on site. 

E19006.E Develop long term strategy for re-use of Hopwood Old Hall 31 March 2020   

Strategy document is underway with Tourism focus 

E19006.F Work up HLF stage 2 bid for re-use and adaptation of Rochdale Town Hall 31 March 2020   

Work with consultants underway with HLF visit due in Mid-October to review progress 

E19006.G 
Prepare the Castleton masterplan to support visitor and economic growth along the East 
Lancashire Railway between Heywood - Castleton 

31 December 2019   

WSP preparing a masterplan for ELR station and Castleton local centre. Stakeholder workshop held in August 2019 

E19006.H 
Support the Environment Agency to deliver he River Roch Flood Alleviation Scheme in 
Littleborough Adopt Supplementary Planning Document for College Bank/Lower Falinge 

31 December 2019   

Draft SPD prepared for College Bank and Lower Falinge and to be presented to Members in due course. Further flood modelling and design work for Littleborough 
flood alleviation scheme and planning application expected late 2019 

        

E19007 Provide an effective and efficient portfolio of Council assets. 31 December 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19007.A 
Review options for the restructure of the management of the commercial and industrial estate to 
increase performance. 

31 August 2019   

P
age 30



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

Project Team established in July and currently working on resolving numerous issues with the industrial estates. Project team are working hard and achieving good 
results 

E19007.B Review the operational efficiency of the Councils non-operational assets to increase performance 31 December 2019   

Review underway on a number of categories 

        

E19008 Maximise income for the Council. 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19008.A Review of 50 Council assets reviewed for potential disposal 31 March 2020   

On target to exceed objective 

E19008.B 
Deliver savings targets by strategic investment in property through the Commercial Investment 
Fund 

31 March 2020   

No further properties acquired since last update, and none sufficiently progressed in pipeline phase 

E19008.C Provide £100,000 income through the promotion of discretionary chargeable Planning services 31 March 2020   

On track, the current income figure is £43,245.25. 

E19008.D Deliver Business Rates payable growth to secure additional £1m 31 March 2020   

This is an annual target and will be reported in Q4 

        

E19009 Capitalise on our investment in regional growth. 31 March 2020   

P
age 31



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19009.A Apply for and secure minimum £10m funding from GM for Rochdale Borough projects 31 March 2020   

£1m secured for office start up scheme in Maclure Road fire station. £250k secured from GMCA Evergreen Fund to support feasibility work on Northern Gateway. A 
further £3m secured from Local Growth Fund towards Junction 19 South Heywood link road 

E19009.B Support GMCA in preparation of strategic plans and strategies:- GMSF 31 October 2019   

Work on GMSF continues albeit consultation on submission draft delayed due to SDS or DPD discussion and to allow work on transport and viability to be 
progressed. 

E19009.C Support GMCA in preparation of strategic plans and strategies:- GM 2040 Delivery Plan 31 October 2019   

Officers have inputted into the GM Rail Prospectus which was published in late September 2019. A Draft 2040 Delivery Plan will be published for consultation in 
Autumn 2019 

E19009.D Support GMCA in preparation of strategic plans and strategies:- GM Local Industrial Strategy 31 December 2019   

No further update. £250k Evergreen grant funding to support work on feasibility of Northern Gateway including AMP proposals. 

E19009.E 
Support GMCA in preparation of strategic plans and strategies:- GM Skills and Employment 
Strategy. 

31 March 2020   

No further update 

E19009.F Form public / private partnerships to support delivery of development opportunities 31 March 2020   

A draft funding agreement in place with the GM Stations Alliance to jointly fund feasibility work around Castleton and Rochdale rail stations. 

E19009.G Develop 10 year Growth Plan for the borough 31 December 2019   

Work progressing to prepare Draft Growth Plan for completion by late 2019 

E19009.H 
Commission and complete a feasibility/plan for an Advanced Manufacturing Park for Northern 
Gateway 

31 March 2020   

P
age 32



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

GMCA funding secured from GM Evergreen Fund to support the appointment of a project manager to prepare Infrastructure Framework for the Heywood - 
Pilsworth site. Match funding secured from Bury. 

        

E19010 Deliver high quality and effective services. 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19010.A To determine planning applications to exceed national targets 31 March 2020   

On track 
• 60% MAJOR <13WEEKS - 100%  
• 65% MINOR<8 WEEKS - 95.45%  
• 80% OTHERS <8WEEKS - 93.85%  

E19010.B 
Redesign business processes and develop new performance measures in Development 
Management. 

31 October 2019   

Mondrem commissioned and project now underway following inception meeting with CX and Leader. Next stages will be meetings with staff and key customers. 

E19010.C Successful launch of the revised Asset Strategy. 30 June 2019   

Reported to Leadership, September 2019. Cabinet report to follow. 

        

E19011 Deliver more high value and aspirational housing 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

E19011.A Develop an aspirational housing strategy for the Borough 31 October 2019   

P
age 33



  

 

       

   

Economy Directorate Plan 2019-20 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  9  Of  9 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

 
 

  

         

Barton Wilmore have been appointed to prepare an Aspirational Housing Strategy. Inception meeting held in September 2019. 

E19011.B Work with developers to obtain planning permission on sites for high value housing 31 March 2020   

 On-going, Permissions at Stable Hills, Heathfield and various schemes at pre-app stage to create future pipeline. 

E19011.C 
Support implementation of the strategy by identifying a portfolio of Council assets to market for 
aspirational and high value housing 

31 March 2020   

Barton Wilmore appointed to commence work on High Value Housing to include a list of HVH sites (private and Council owned) to feed into consultant study. Sites 
to be presented to Members for consideration. 

        

 

P
age 34



1

Rochdale Development Agency – Delivery Plan 2019-20

1. Business Development Team

Priority Work Area Action / Workstream    Lead Timing

A. B. Occupier Attraction

Lead Generation

Develop and deliver marketing campaigns to promote Rochdale to companies in target sectors.
 Two email campaigns promoting units at Logic at Kingsway to manufacturing and logistics - 

businesses within 20 mile radius delivered with 7 new company leads contacted by RDA - ongoing 
4 delivered so far 

 Printed brochure for Logic produced along with a billboard advert in the town centre. Completed 
 Work continues on development of the new Invest in Rochdale website with the template agreed 

and draft copy being produced – 90% content produced. 

AS



Mar 20

Enquiry Handling

Manage investment enquiries from businesses providing tailored advice and support.
 49 new enquires received and responded to during Q2 (July - September)
 Four investment projects secured creating 33 new jobs and safeguarding 48 jobs including one 

at Logic:
 KP Industries, a local manufacturing company, have taken a lease of two units on the Logic 

scheme at Kingsway BP totalling 19,370 sq ft.

MW


Mar 20

Sector Development

Devise and develop projects in target sectors to strengthen the case for inward investment in Rochdale.
 Logistics: Meetings attended discussing clean air proposals with operators. Work ongoing to set up 

Rochdale Ambassadors sector group
 Manufacturing: Bid being prepared with support of NPL to deliver Advanced Machinery Institute in 

Rochdale at Kingsway Business Park. Discussions ongoing with GMCA around funding and business 
case, Strength in Places application to be submitted in mid-October and master planning work 
commissioned at Kingsway Business Park. Industry 4.0 event being held at Hopwood Hall College 
in early October with support of company behind the Industry 4.0 summit which is held in 
Manchester annually

 Creative & Digital: Provisional support obtained for additional grant funding into the fire station 
project. Steering group meetings set up in preparation for full application by mid-November and 
delivery of first floor office scheme from spring 2020. Rochdale Ambassadors sector group 
meeting held.

NE



Mar 20

Location Promotion
Develop projects to promote Rochdale as a business location locally, regionally and nationally.

 Additional resources approved, in principle, to develop an overarching inward investment 
campaign for Rochdale. Work with RBC on campaign development due to commence in Q3

CN 

P
age 35



2

 Ongoing attendance at business conferences and networking events to promote Rochdale in GM.

C. D. Business Support

Account Management
Develop strategic relations with account managed businesses in target sectors Rochdale.

 25 account management visits to companies completed during Q1 (April – June)
 15 visits made in Q2.

CH  Mar 20

Partner Services

Work with the Growth Company to promote their advice and support services in Rochdale.
 Review meetings held with Business Growth Hub and MIDAS in July 2019 to review activity in 

Rochdale
 Richard Perkins is now appointed and working in the team.

CN


Mar 20

Rochdale Ambassadors

Work with This is Rochdale to deliver local networking events and develop the #ThisisRochdale programme.
 Regular ambassador events held at Hopwood Hall College in June, with 100 attendees; and 107 

attendees at the football club in September 
 Two board meetings held with recommendation to form sector sub groups to be taken forward – 

these have been formed. IT, Manufacturing and skills have had their first meeting. Logistics sub 
group is being headed up by Gary Atkinson from Dachser

 New brand identity for #ThisisRochdale agreed and distributed to ambassadors. Complete. This is 
now being used by the ambassadors on email footers, letter head, stickers and pin badges.

AS



May 20

Business Awards
Work with the Steering Group to deliver the annual Rochdale Business Awards.

 Launch event for 2019 awards held with 40 business people attending, including new contacts
 Entries closed on 27 September and judging will take place early October.

CH  Dec 20

P
age 36



3

2. Major Projects Team – Delivery Plan 2019-20

Key 
Priority 
no.

Work Area
Action / Workstream    Lead Timing 

A. Rochdale Riverside
Monitor and coordinate on-site construction activity to secure completion by Easter 2020, including 
monitoring compliance with the legal and planning requirements  

 The scheme is currently on target to open in Easter 2020 (ahead of scheduled opening)
 An application for revisions to the car park and other non-material amendments is to be 

submitted later in 2019 once detailed design issues are confirmed.

GD/SP  Mar 20  

Work with Genr8 to confirm asset management and operational arrangements, secure further occupiers 
and monitor the financial cash flow  

 Asset management set up planning is on-going
 Hollywood Bowl have formally signed a lease to occupy the scheme, taking on a 20,000 sq. ft. 

unit.  This deal takes the scheme to 75% let based on floor area. Detailed discussions are on-
going with other potential new occupiers including food and beverage traders.

GD/SP  Mar 20

Rochdale Riverside
retail and leisure 
scheme 

Work with Genr8 to identify a viable scheme and confirm the delivery & funding options for Phase 2 of the 
scheme, including a programme to commence enabling works 

 Enabling works design & delivery options are under review
 On-going discussions are taking place between Genr8 and RDA to review funding and delivery 

options for the main Phase 2 site.

DC/SP/
GD  Mar 20

B. Rochdale Town Centre
Rochdale Town 
Centre  action plan

Produce an annual Action Plan for the Rochdale Town Centre Delivery Plan
 The format of the Action Plan has now been agreed. The Action Plan will be updated every 

quarter.

GD/GM  Mar 20

Rochdale market Continue the on-going operational & financial management of the indoor & outdoor market, and conclude 
a review of the future management options   

 The last day of trading for the outdoor market and food hall is planned to be 14 October 2019
 The artisan market continues to operate on last Saturday of the month.

LR  Dec 19  

The Walk / The Butts  
shop front 
improvement scheme

Complete the design work, confirm costs, prepare tender documents and procure a contractor to 
undertake a comprehensive shop front improvement scheme 

 Initial ideas for improvements to The Walk are being prepared. Surveyors will be appointed to 
carry out some initial surveys of the properties prior to agreeing a scheme   

GM  Mar 20

Butts Avenue 
improvement scheme  

Complete the design work, confirm costs, prepare tender documents and procure a contractor to 
undertake the agreed scheme 

 Detailed designs have now been completed for the project. The Council’s Property Services are 

GM  Oct 19

P
age 37



4

currently preparing the tender documents, which will incorporate the property improvements, 
public realm and lighting 

 Further consultation with adjoining businesses is underway.
Smith Street paving 
scheme 

Complete the design work, confirm costs, prepare tender documents and procure a contractor to 
undertake the agreed scheme

 Smith Street paving scheme is being delivered by RBC Highways and is due to start on site 
October 2019 

 The work will complete in the New Year before Dippy the Dinosaur arrives at Number One 
Riverside.

GM  Mar 20

Rochdale town centre 
mural festival 

Coordinate activity needed to secure delivery of festival including planning permission and building owner 
consents

 The Mural festival took place from 23rd-26th August and delivered 12 large scale murals together 
with and events programme

 Discussions about potential future murals or continuation of the festival will take place.

KK  Mar 20

South Parade  
improvement scheme

Complete design work, confirm costs, prepare tender documents and procure a contractor to undertake a 
property frontage & block improvement scheme along with improved paving

 Scheme to be progressed in 2019 as part of the Drake Street strategy
 Professional team appointed for the design and delivery of the scheme (Conservation Accredited 

Architects)
 Paving scheme delivered by RBC Highways in autumn 2019.

KK/NB  Mar 20

Bell Street  
improvement scheme 

Secure a licence with the owners, complete the design work, confirm costs, prepare tender documents 
and procure a contractor to undertake an environmental improvement scheme 

 The lease has been agreed with the site owners and scheme designs are complete 
 A simple landscaping improvement scheme will be implemented as part of the Rochdale 

Riverside contract.

AM  Dec 19

Drake Street strategy  Coordinate implementation of the Drake Street strategy in accordance with the approved  Delivery Plan 
and Action Plan to secure  the reuse of vacant properties & sites and the completion of identified 
improvement schemes  

 A number of residential schemes are complete or are nearing completion, including 1 Drake 
Street and 19-21 Church Lane

 Work with partners on-going to bring forward a development for the former Iveson’s site
 Agreed purchase of key Drake Street property fallen through. Engaging with owner and 

considering options.

NB  Mar 20

Heritage Action Zone Implementation of the Heritage Action Zone delivery plan and PSiCA grants to secure the repair and reuse 
of heritage assets

 Manchester School of Architecture’s exhibition was in N1R from June to August 
 The PSiCA historic building repair grant scheme has been approved by Historic England and 

KK  Mar 20

P
age 38



5

officially launched
 Delivery of the first year PSiCA scheme (eligible properties 7 South Parade to 12 Drake Street, 

Deaf and Dumb Institute)
 Continued engagement and research programme in collaboration with Historic England
 Launch of the Co-operative Enterprise HUB in 14 Drake Street in Jan 2020
 Heritage Schools projects in collaboration with Historic England and Manchester School of 

Architecture.
C. Heritage assets

Coordinate work needed to progress the HLF development stage submission in mid-2020 to secure a 
Round 2 award in autumn 2020

 Full consultant team appointed. Monthly co-ordination meetings with full team and robust 
reporting process established with risk management process

 RIBA Stage 2 designs now completed for all 3 Phases and costs now being evaluated. Major 
gateway of mid-point review due in October with NLHF trustees

 Accurate scale drawings and elevations of the building are now available for the first time.

EB/JH/ER  Mar 20Rochdale Town Hall 

Confirm programme and coordinate procurement and implementation of the Phase 1  improvement 
works to the building including the decant arrangements for late 2020

 Definition of Phase 1 works is complete. Opening up works undertaken in August and design 
team able to refine scope and understand construction and condition far better 

 The decant of the building is being managed by the RBC Estates Team with options being 
evaluated for the relocation of current services. Monthly group established.

EB/JH/ER  Mar 20

Town Hall Square 
public realm

Progress the design  to transform the square including  public consultation and confirm the delivery 
programme

 RIBA Stage 2 designs being worked up in tandem with town hall scheme to ensure access, 
counter-terrorism measures co-ordinated

 Scope of project under review due to complex issues and budget constraints. 

JH/ER  Mar 20

Complete land transfer, prepare development brief, secure planning permission, market the development 
opportunity and secure capital receipt

 Change in Executive Management at Academy Trust has led to review of land transfer 
agreement, working with new Academy Trust Chief Executive and professional to progress 
agreement

 Development brief, planning permission and marketing to take place after land transfer. 

NB  Mar 20Tonge Hall

Prepare brief for repair works to building and delivery programme in dialogue with Historic England
 Brief for repair work to be prepared. 

NB  Mar 20

Rochdale Fire Service 
Museum

Coordinate implementation of the delivery phase, following the Stage 2 HLF approval, to secure a start on 
site in October 2019

 Design team have completed RIBA Stage 4 process and the tenders were issued in July

JH  Sep 19

P
age 39



6

 Currently working with museum team to develop the exhibition and interpretative design. Some 
testing of ideas at recent Heritage Open Days with some further community input

 Contractor tenders returned (3 of which GM based companies). Final assessment of tenders 
underway prior to appointment. Due to start on site October 2019. Opening autumn 2020.

Confirm proposals for the adaptation, fit out and use of the first floor of the building and agree the 
implementation programme, operational arrangements and funding

 Tenders returned and being assessed. Large asbestos removal cost
 ERDF stage 1 bid approved with final bid to be submitted for mid-November for c£800k 

additional funding towards wider site to maximise council match funding and to create digital 
creative workplaces

 Continued discussions around operation and marketing of project under development.   

JH/NE  Mar 20

Complete emergency repair works needed to protect features of significance and continue regular 
inspections in discussion with Historic England 

 Main contractor on site.

NB  Dec 19Hopwood Hall

Work with Hopwood DePree and Historic England to prepare a deliverable strategy and programme for 
the repair, restoration and re-use of the building including a review of the existing option agreement 

 Preparation of strategy & programme and review of option agreement is on-going
 Development of strategy to include synergies with tourism major opportunity within the locality.

NB  March 
20

Heritage Strategy Work with RBC Planning and partners to undertake a review of heritage projects and assets and prepare a 
Heritage Strategy/Heritage Opportunities document

 Initial draft prepared and to be progressed in 2019.

KK/EB  Dec 20

Middleton Town 
centre

Complete the paving and shop front improvement scheme and secure financial closure  
 Shopfront works completed and financial closure on-going.

NB/KK  Nov 
2019 

D.  Masterplans / Town Centres
Business rates 
reduction & shop 
front scheme

Identify, promote and implement Business Rates relief scheme and the shopfront & start up grant scheme 
to secure the re-occupation of vacant properties in the town centres (Rochdale, Heywood & Middleton)

 Re-advertising of the scheme will take place via an online campaign
 New businesses across the town centres continue to take advantage of the two schemes.

GM  Mar 20

Highway Movement 
Framework 

Complete the review and secure approval of the revised  Highway Movement Framework for Rochdale 
town centre 

 Review is underway, including traffic modelling and initial workshop sessions. 

AM  Mar 20

Heywood town 
centre masterplan 

Development of a high level masterplan to identify opportunities to strengthen the core functions of the 
town centre and support investment and development proposals

 New project - to be progressed.

AM/PM Mar 20

Middleton town 
centre masterplan

Development of a high level masterplan to identify opportunities to strengthen the core functions of the 
town centre and support investment and development proposals

 New project - to be progressed.

AM/PM Mar 20

P
age 40



7

Littleborough
masterplan 

Development of a high level masterplan to identify opportunities to strengthen the town centre and 
support investment and development proposals

 New project - to be progressed.

AM/PM Mar 20

Development of a high level masterplan for Castleton to identify residential opportunities and other 
regeneration potential, and to support visitor and economic growth along the East Lancashire Railway 
between Heywood & Castleton

 Consultants appointed and workshops taken place.

NB/MR  Mar 20

Undertake review of the Network Rail approved Castleton extension feasibility study when completed and 
define and agreed scope of future project   

 Network Rail appointed to carry out feasibility study which is now complete.  This will be fed into 
Castleton Masterplan process.

NB/MR  Dec 19

Castleton masterplan 
and East Lancashire 
Railway

Undertake review of the Heywood engine shed feasibility study when completed and define and agreed 
scope of future project   

 Feasibility Study completed, project not viable. ELR investigating smaller scale project.

NB/MR  Dec 19

Station Gateway / 
Milkstone Road 
masterplan 

The development of a masterplan and associated work programme of physical improvements to create a 
more attractive retail and living environment and to secure additional private investment

 Masterplan work by external consultants has been commissioned and two stakeholder 
workshops have taken place. 

GM/MR  Mar 20

Rochdale Town 
Centre Residential 
Masterplan

Development of a strategy for Rochdale town centre to create the market conditions to deliver new 
residential units within the town centre and bring forward a viable package of sites,  including Central 
Retail Park 

 New project - to be progressed.

GM/MR Mar 20

P
age 41



8

3. Business Parks and Development

Key 
Priority 
No

Work Area
Action   Lead Timing

A. To promote and improve a portfolio of competitive, high quality Business Parks and Industrial Estates including (but not limited to):  

Work with Partners and Rochdale Council to progress the Junction 19 Link Road Scheme to enable a 
start on site in early 2020/21    

RD / SP 

Work with Rochdale Council and partners to complete a main contractor procurement process, including 
appointment of a contractor.

 13 expressions of interest received
 8 companies selected to take forward to the Invitation to Tender stage, which is due to 

commence in October 2019.   

RD  Mar 20

Secure agreement of the heads of terms for the development agreement between Rochdale Council and 
the developer for the delivery of the Junction 19 Link Road 

 Draft Heads of Terms issued to Russell Homes.  

RD / SP  Dec 19

Complete the development agreement between Rochdale Council and the developer for the delivery of 
the Junction 19 Link Road 

 Will follow on from agreement of Heads of Terms.

RD / SP Mar 20

Work with Rochdale Council and partners to secure Growth Deal Funding from the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (through their agent TfGM) including approval of a Full Business Case 

 Work is ongoing on the preparation of the Business Case with target date for submission to 
TfGM of early 2020

 First draft should be submitted in October.

RD / AM  Dec 19

South Heywood 
Employment Area / 
Junction 19 Link Road

Achieve a construction start on site 
 Work is currently targeted to commence in spring 2020.

RD / AM  Mar 20

Work to deliver development across the Business Park in accordance with the overall Strategic 
Objectives of the Kingsway Partnership   

RD / AM 

Work with Wilson Bowden and contractors to secure construction completion of the Logic small unit 
development at Plot D 

 Practical completion achieved in June 2019, snagging works ongoing.  

RD / SP  Jun 19

Kingsway Business 
Park 

Work with commercial letting agents to secure tenants for 50% of the Logic development 
 KPI Industries and Commercial Blinds now occupying 3 units
 Extensive marketing works undertaken to secure occupiers for the remainder of the units.

RD / SP  Oct 19

P
age 42



9

RDA Performance Indicators 2019-20

Work with Wilson Bowden Developments to agree a commercially acceptable funding package and 
progress development of a medium unit scheme on Plot G

 Working through the Stamp Duty and procurement issues to agree a deal with WBD and agree a 
construction programme for early 2020

 New occupiers have recently commenced operations either side of Plot G at Plot F (Dachser 
Logistics) and Plot N (Trade Mouldings).

SP / DC  Dec 19 

Work with Transport for Greater Manchester and Kingsway Businesses to secure the continuation of the 
Kingsway Link bus service for 2019/20 and beyond.

 Transport focussed meeting held with ASDA / Wincanton
 Meeting held with commercial bus operator looking at feasibility of ‘works bus’ style service for 

Kingsway.

RD / AM  Dec 19

Work with Canmoor and other landowners and occupiers to secure and enhance the economic 
attractiveness of Stakehill Industrial Estate 

RD / AM

Work with Rochdale Council to secure completion of a Traffic Regulation Order to introduce on-street 
parking restrictions

 Traffic Regulation Order approved in July.

RD  Sep 19

Work with Rochdale Council to secure the installation of on-street parking restrictions 
 Double yellow lines implemented in September. 

RD / AM  Dec 19

Work with Rochdale Boroughwide Housing to secure the implement and operation of a CCTV system 
across the Estate

 CCTV cameras now installed on lampposts. Ongoing work to secure installation of relay units to 
bounce signal back to GMP Control Room. 

RD / AM  Sep 19

Working with Canmoor, organise a further occupier’s breakfast event.
 Two tenant meetings (including one business breakfast) have been held this financial year so far
 Further occupiers meeting arranged for November.  

RD / AM  Dec 19

Stakehill Industrial 
Estate

As part of a Steering Group, work with specialist consultants to Investigate the feasibility of a Business 
Improvement District covering Stakehill Industrial Estate.

 Initial tenant engagement work is underway, to understand the appetite for a Business 
Improvement District

 Further Steering Group meeting in October, with open discussion for tenants in November. 

RD /  AM  Mar 20

Performance Indicators RDA Annual 
Target Q2 Cumulative Commentary

P
age 43



10

Key

 Achieved 

 Progress on track to achieving target

 Steady progress with minor risk of potential 
delays

 High Risk of project not being achieved

 Not Achieved

Number of successful investment projects receiving RDA assistance 30 4 6 

Number of jobs safeguarded by RDA assisted companies 250 48 148 

Number of new jobs created by RDA assisted companies or projects 350 33 78 

Total level of property investment secured (£) £30,000,000 £6,600,000 

Amount of commercial floor space built with RDA support (sq. ft.) 300,000 63,000 

P
age 44



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting MeetingDateLegal
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Neighbourhoods, 
Community & Culture, 
Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration, Business, 
Skills & Employment

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance 
Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 2 (1st July – 30th September 2019) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Neighbourhoods 
Directorate Plan 2019-20

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices

Reason for Recommendation

3. In accordance with the Council’s performance management framework, 
progress toward targets contained within Directorate Plans are to be reported 
to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each quarter. 

The Quarter 2 progress report for the Neighbourhoods Directorate is attached 
at Appendix 1. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green: Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track

The appendix includes a commentary against actions that are showing red, 
amber or purple

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20 Progress

Performance Overview

One action included in the Directorate Plan 2019-20 is complete. 88% (15) 
actions are ongoing and are due to be completed on time. One further action 
has passed its due date and is not fully complete (Amber). The chart below 
shows the overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at 
the end of Quarter 2. 

The action that isn’t fully complete and the due date has passed (Amber) 
relates to:

 Sustain as a minimum our recycling rate (in year 2019/20) whilst 
reviewing current waste management strategy to improve rates in 
conjunction with the governments resources & waste strategy.

Quarter 2 Highlights

In regards to targeted activity to promote recycling, re-use and reductions in 
household waste; recycling officers have been engaging with local groups. 
The EAU manager has also engaged with local radio and placed adverts in 
the RAFC match programme. Recommendations for the refresh of Rochdale’s 
Waste Strategy are still being developed.

Draft plans, including key priorities, outcomes and performance indicators, 
have been produced for the Domestic Abuse Strategy and Anti-Social 
Behaviour Strategy.

Page 46



4.3

4.4

‘Families for peace’ programme has been successfully delivered. 60 people 
trained in conflict resolution and community dialogue facilitation. 

Most of the analysis for the Customer Transformation Programme has been 
completed. Procurement is underway in relation to a new platform for the 
Council's website with a project plan being developed in relation to Phase 2.

The draft Corporate Plan has been subject to consultation including 
Leadership Team, Informal Cabinet, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny and the 
Citizens Panel. The plan was presented and approved at Cabinet on 29th 
October. It will go to Full Council on 11th December for endorsement.

Feedback from phase 1 of the independent review of homelessness and the 
Homelessness Network event in August reflects the new direction that the 
services and strategy will undertake. It has been identified that services need 
to become more holistic and embedded within broader services and should 
place people at risk of homelessness at the centre. Phase 2 of the programme 
will establish the opportunity to design and pilot new ways or working and new 
approaches to engaging people.

Contractors have been invited to tender for the construction of the South 
Heywood J19 link road. Final planning approval is being awaited before 
tenders can be issued.

Performance Issues

None

Alternatives Considered

Not applicable

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None

Risk and Policy Implications

None6.

Consultation

7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

Page 47



8. Appendix 1 - Neighbourhoods 
Directorate Plan Actions  Q2 
2019/20

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, , 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 48



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

 

NDP1901 Work in partnership to implement new Community Safety Plan to reduce crime and disorder 31 January 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1901.A Develop and sign off new Domestic Abuse Strategy for borough 30 November 2019   

A draft Domestic Abuse Strategy is in place, including key priorities, success outcomes and performance indicators. On course for completion in Q3 

NDP1901.B Complete new Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy for the borough 31 January 2020   

A draft delivery plan has been produced which includes draft key priorities, success outcomes and performance indicators.  

        

NDP1902 Implement plans to prevent community tensions and support a more cohesive and integrated 
community 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1902.A 
Through project with Government develop an insight into community settlement patterns in the 
borough and the impact on services 

31 December 2019   

 Interim report presented to the working group with final report expected by December. Further analytical work to be undertaken on council data sets. Will be able 
to feedback on progress in Q4 

NDP1902.B 
Support Rochdale Connections Trust and M6 Theatre to deliver ‘Building Stronger Britain 
Together’ projects 

29 February 2020   

An Honour-based abuse conference was delivered which attracted an audience from across the north of England. The Blurred Lines film project, focussing on child 
criminal exploitation was launched on 7th October in partnership with Children's Services. The M6 theatre work with Rochdale Connections Trust, which focusses 
on criminal exploitation, has been delivered in community settings and will be expanded to include schools and colleges. 

NDP1902.C Deliver with Foundation 4 Peace the ‘Families for Peace’ programme across the borough 31 March 2020  

P
age 49



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

The commissioned work from the Council has been completed and Foundations 4 Peace are including their work across the borough. At least 60 people were 
trained in conflict resolution and community dialogue facilitation. 

        

NDP19003 Roll out work of integrated place based teams to reduce crisis demand and deliver value for 
money and wider benefits 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1903.A Complete annual citizen-led leadership challenges in partnership with GMCA 31 December 2019   

The Edge Hill University report has now been completed, identifying the timeline and key outcomes achieved through the citizen involvement work. The Strategic 
Place Board reconfiguration now includes citizens at all levels of influence. Work continues with colleagues across the system including the Voluntary and 
Community Sector, adult, children's services, housing and public health. 

NDP1903.B Following pilot stages, have in place active Place Teams based in each of the 5 townships 29 February 2020   

5 Operational Place Teams are now in place across 3 of the Townships, although cases are now being supported across all 5. 

        

NDP1904 Agree plan for embedding Public Service Reform across the borough 31 October 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1904.A 
Partnership put in place to support reform activity across Council, partners and Health and Social 
Care following reform benchmark exercise 

30 September 2019   

The strategic assessment format is drafted. It is now ready for the assessment to take place based on evidence from the different parts of the system, reporting 
through the PSR steering group to the Place and Reform Board 

NDP1904.B Begin implementation of new service models 31 October 2019   

P
age 50



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

Service models have been developed in response to the need / demand identified in each of the neighbourhoods. The team's priorities and make up reflect this. 
The monitoring and recording methods are the same and have been amalgamated into one system (with 900+ cases currently active). 

        

NDP1905 Transform and improve customer, digital and information governance provision 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1905.A 
Deliver Phase 1 (analysis) and commence Phase 2 (delivery) of Customer Transformation 
Programme 

31 October 2019   

Most of the analysis for the Customer Transformation Programme has been completed. Procurement is underway in relation to a new platform for the Council's 
website. A project plan is being developed in relation to Phase 2. 

NDP1905.B Agree final partnership delivery plan relating to Digital Strategy 31 December 2019   

A draft digital strategy has been prepared and a plan for consultation is being drawn up. The Council will also be contributing to a refresh of the Greater 
Manchester Digital Strategy 

NDP1905.C Undertake review of Contact Centre provision options and propose future operating model 31 March 2020   

Work is progressing in scoping out options for the future operating model of the Customer Contact Centre. An action plan around the process will be drawn up. 

        

NDP1906 Promote the borough as a desirable place to live, work and do business. 31 July 2019  

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1906.A Work with internal stakeholders to determine communication priorities for 2019/20 31 July 2019  

P
age 51



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

Service priorities have been agreed with departments and work has been progressed. 
 
Some campaigns are still to be agreed, including one that will be focussed on inward investment. 
 
The communications team is providing regular updates of performance to members of wider leadership and relevant members. 

        

NDP1907 Determine vision and priorities to offer strategic direction for the and the Borough and the 
Council 

31 December 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1907.A Develop a new Corporate Plan for 2019/ 2020 onwards 30 September 2019   

The draft Corporate Plan has been subject to consultation including Leadership Team, Informal Cabinet, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny and the Citizens Panel. 
The final draft has now been signed off by Leadership Team and is with the designed. It will be presented to Cabinet on 29th October for approval. It will go to Full 
Council on 11th December for endorsement. 

NDP1907.B Develop a joint Equality and Diversity Strategy for the Borough for Council and CCG 31 December 2019   

The E&D strategy is currently being redrafted for submission for further comment to the equalities steering group in late October. It is intended to meet with 
members for their comment in November. It is hoped that it will go to wider leadership team in late November/December and through the CCG governance 
structure for approval in the early months of the New Year with a view to its implementation in April 2020. 

        

NDP1908 Modify the homelessness prevention strategy in line with legislative changes, GM and national 
priorities 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1908.A Audit existing strategy 30 June 2019   

P
age 52



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

Feedback from phase 1 of the independent review of homelessness and the Homelessness Network event in August both reflect the new direction that the services 
and strategy will reflect. Services need to become more holistic and embedded within broader services and should place people at risk of homelessness at the 
centre. Phase 2 of the programme if agreed will establish the opportunity to design and pilot new ways or working and new approaches to engaging people. In the 
meantime the Joint Homelessness Board and Rochdale Homelessness Network will continue to prioritise the growing challenges to prevent rough sleeping and to 
support the development of a new strategy focused on preventative opportunities. The Joint Homelessness Board meeting in October will review existing priorities. 

NDP1908.B 
Identify strategic priorities including issues relating to housing access and supply; out of borough 
placements; early intervention and prevention 

31 August 2019   

Feedback from phase 1 of the independent review of homelessness and the Homelessness Network event in August both reflect the new direction that the services 
and strategy will reflect. Services need to become more holistic and embedded within broader services and should place people at risk of homelessness at the 
centre. Phase 2 of the programme if agreed will establish the opportunity to design and pilot new ways or working and new approaches to engaging people. 

NDP1908.C Establish a regional Strategy sub group 30 September 2019   

Homelessness services has raised the issue of OOB placements at GM Housing Needs Group and although there is no agreement or undertaking from MMC or 
others to cease or reduce the number of households placed within the borough, we will meet with colleagues in from Oldham, MCC and Salford to discuss issues 
and addressing impact. 

NDP1908.D Develop a revised Homelessness strategy 31 March 2020   

Phase 1 of the independent review has been completed and as part of phase 2 (subject to approval) we will look at the potential new models of providing 
preventative support. The new strategy will also use any learning from the role out of ABEN phase 2, the Rough Sleeper Initiative and the Housing First Pilot that 
will support the council to achieve the commitment to end rough sleeping by 2022. 

        

NDP1909 Modify the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy and Scheme meets statutory requirements and 
makes the maximises the use of housing stock in the borough 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1909.A Review of current policy and scheme to ensure it is fit for purpose 30 June 2019   

P
age 53



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

Review underway and on-going. Understanding IT capability and required 50% changes to implement necessary amendments 

NDP1909.B Commission and undertake Phase 1 of business transformation study / service development 31 August 2019  

Commission process complete and Phase 1 commenced. 

NDP1909.C Develop and implement quick wins and explore opportunities identified by Phase 1. 31 December 2019  

Phase 1 complete. 

NDP1909.D 
Phase 2 - develop consultation and implementation plans for longer term changes identified 
through Phase 1 

31 January 2020   

Transformation Bid to fund Phase 2 complete and all other relevant documentation complete. Waiting for sign off, before planning and development can start. 

NDP1909.E Review housing outcomes 31 March 2020   

On-going; 50% complete 

        

NDP1910 Commence a CPO Programme for 36 sites across the borough 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1910.A Commence the statutory CPO process on the priority list of problem sites and buildings 31 March 2020   

Work underway on confirmed CPO land. Two CPOs ready to be made and two more nearing point of making. Rest of sites under active monitoring and negotiation. 
Further large sites being considered as long term CPO targets. 

        

P
age 54



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

NDP1911 Sustain as a minimum our recycling rate (in year 2019/20) whilst reviewing current waste 
management strategy to improve rates in conjunction with the governments resources & waste strategy. 

31 July 2019   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1911.A 
Present recommendations for refresh of Rochdale’s Waste Strategy to encompass where 
appropriate recommendations from DEFRA Waste & Resources with a view to implementation of 
recommendations in 20/21 

30 June 2019   

HWRC trade restrictions go live Feb 2020. EAU Manager to begin development of work to support this 

NDP1911.B 
Implement a programme of targeted activities to take place in 2019/20 to promote recycling, re-
use and reductions in household waste 

31 July 2019   

Recycling officers continuing to engage with local groups. EAU Manager has engaged with local radio and placed adverts with RAFC match programme - 100% 
complete and on-going. 

        

NDP1912 Improve the cleanliness of our streets and open spaces and public realm 31 January 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1912.A Develop a process to address Fly-tipping and side-waste at bin collection points and alleyways 30 June 2019   

Procedure in development. 

NDP1912.B 
Implement Highways Advertising Board permit scheme to regulate obstructions in high-footfall 
areas 

31 January 2020   

Investigate other GM Authorities have in place to consider options 

        

NDP1913 Highways Input to Support Economic/Housing growth 31 March 2020   

        

P
age 55



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1913.A Commence construction South Heywood J19 Link Road 30 June 2019   

Initial stage of procurement process completed and list of contractors to invite to tender has been finalised. Awaiting final planning approval prior to issuing tender 
documents. Anticipated start date Spring 2020 

NDP1913.B Support GMSF/Northern Gateway, RR Phase 2 and Station Gateway 31 March 2020   

Highway Development Control have continued to provide advice and consultation responses to all planning applications; a number of applications will support 
economic and housing growth targets 

NDP1913.C Town Centre master planning including a new Rochdale Town Centre traffic model 31 March 2020   

Work has continued through the quarter with stakeholder workshops on the Town Centre Movement Framework which will lead to traffic modelling 

        

NDP1914 Capitalise on the delivery of the Highways Capital Programme & Additional Investment – 
leading to improved road condition 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1914.A Deliver LTP capital programme 31 March 2020   

The two year LTP programme will be completed on the 5th October. Currently ahead of programme and within budget. 

NDP1914.B Deliver Year 2 of 3 of additional leader investment funding – value £4m 31 March 2020   

These works are currently ongoing and progressing ahead of the agreed programme 

NDP1914.C 
Undertake targeted structural patching of areas of carriageway where there concentrated amount 
of potholes - £1.08m 

31 March 2020   

Procedure agreed internally and members to be invited to get involved with a co-ordinated highways day of action. 

P
age 56



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  9  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

NDP1914.D Deliver Flood Resilience programme of High Risk flood sites - £500k 31 March 2020   

Works currently ongoing and progressing to agreed programme. 

        

NDP1915 Capitalise on Rochdale’s registered housing providers investment monies available through the 
GM Mayoral Fund 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1915.A 
Work with registered housing providers to agree the build programme for delivery of both 
affordable and supported housing. 

31 March 2020   

Negotiations with RPs ongoing on Rochdale site opportunities. One long term problem site close to agreement with RP with GM and HE funding 

NDP1915.B 
Bring forward inner town Brownfield sites to provide community led housing for the most 
challenged communities and promote town centre development 

31 March 2020   

CLH scheme facilitation ongoing 

NDP1915.C 
Engage with developers receiving HCA grant monies to ensure they are aware of opportunities in 
Rochdale 

30 September 2019   

Negotiations with developers ongoing on Rochdale site opportunities including three CPO sites 

        

NDP1916 Support the development and implementation of the GM Clean Air Plan to tackle nitrogen 
dioxide exceedances 

31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1916.A 
Develop and deliver the clustered stakeholder engagement events with Rochdale, Oldham and 
Tameside taxi trade 

31 July 2019  

Completed. Cluster meeting took place on 13.2.19 in Oldham involving reps from Rochdale Oldham and Tameside taxi trade. Further follow up Rochdale trade 
briefing took place on 24.7.19. 

P
age 57



  

 

       

   

Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20  
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  10  Of  10 
 

  

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

   

         

NDP1916.B Support TfGM with the development and delivery of other stakeholder engagement events 31 July 2019   

The public conversation was completed and closed during Q1 and meetings with TfGM have been taking place regarding next steps. 

NDP1916.C 
Support TfGM with the development and delivery of the statutory consultation around the GM 
Clean Air Plan 

31 October 2019   

This is expected to take place in January (Q4), not yet scheduled 

NDP1916.D 
Support TfGM in the production and submission of the Full Business Case for the GM Clean Air 
Plan 

31 December 2019   

This is scheduled to take place during Q3/Q4, not yet scheduled 

NDP1916.E 
Support TfGM with the location, commissioning and maintenance of a real-time monitoring 
station within the Borough 

31 March 2020   

Ongoing - site agreed and working now with highways and street lighting to commission an electrical supply. 

        

NDP1917 Accelerated Housing Programme 31 March 2020   

        

Ref. Name Due Status 

NDP1917.A Commission consultant study to inform approach to delivering higher value housing 30 September 2019   

Accelerated Housing study commissioned and underway with consultants Barton Willmore 

NDP1917.B 
Promote at an agreed annual programme of sites for the development of higher value housing in 
order to widen housing choice and retain economically active households. 

30 November 2019   

Programme under development 

 

P
age 58



COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Work Programme 2019/2020

Introduction

The Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was established by the Council at the meeting held on 19th May 2015, 
the principal role of the Committee being to bring together both the physical and 
skills aspects of economic regeneration, and the supporting work of services such as 
leisure, highways, housing and environmental services etc. that provide the 
opportunities for work and the improvement of life experiences for the Borough’s 
communities.

Areas of focus for the Committee include the scrutiny of partners or key contractors 
relevant to the remit of the Committee.

The work programme for the Committee is drawn up through consideration of the 
statutory roles of the Committee, including the ‘call-in’ or review of executive 
decisions made, budget and policy consultation, and review of service delivery, with 
scheduling reflecting the anticipated consideration of business to deliver these 
functions.  The Committee has options for developing its own agenda and can 
request further business to come forward.

In brief, these are to hold the executive to account and to maintain an oversight of 
the delivery of Council services.  This is undertaken principally through the following 
means:-

 
 Scrutiny of Executive Decisions through the ‘Call-in’ process;
 The consideration of Budget and Policy Framework proposals for 

consultative purposes;
 The consideration of a range of performance monitoring/management 

data;
 The specific consideration of individual service issues as may be specified 

by the Committee. 

The Committee’s Work Programme is prepared on the basis of known items at this 
time.  Scheduling of some business remains to be determined and this is reflected in 
the Work programme.  The following table highlights issues where there is either an 
agreement or an anticipation that specific items may come forward.  Other issues 
can be brought forward as indicated above.    

Page 59

Agenda Item 11



20th June 2019

18th September 2019

Work Programme Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Update

Performance management and 
monitoring

RBH Housing Stock Scrutiny of RBH performance
Climatic Issue (Director of Neighbourhoods 
to report)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Rochdale and Middleton Town Centre 
Management

Scrutiny of Performance and 
proposals 

21st November 2019

Work Programme Update 
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
‘Dippy the Dinosaur’ presentation on 
proposals for Rochdale’s hosting of Dippy in 
2020

Presentation/update

Housing Allocations Scrutiny of proposals

Community Safety – update Performance management and 
monitoring

Directorate Plan Updates – 1st and 2nd 
Quarter Reports 2018/19

 Neighbourhoods Directorate
 Economy Directorate 

Performance management and 
monitoring

20th February 2020

Work Programme Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  

Work Programme To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2018/2019

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Discretionary Crisis Fund and Local Welfare 
Provision Year End Report 2017/18

Performance monitoring and 
management

Directorate Plan Updates – 4th Quarter 
Reports 2017/18

 Neighbourhoods Directorate
 Economy Directorate (incorporating 

RDA)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Greater Manchester Energy Company – 
possible study group
Place Base presentation
GMCA Scrutiny Committee Minutes For information/discussion

Page 60



Directorate Plan Updates – 3rd Quarter 
2018/19
Neighbourhoods Directorate
Economy Directorate (incorporating RDA)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Rochdale Feel Good Festival – plans for the 
2020 event
Flood Defences (Director of Neighbourhood 
to report)

Page 61


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Community Safety
	8571_RSCP_CommunitySafetyPlan_2019-2022_V2_LR

	9 Economy Directorate Plans 2019/2020 - Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Economy Directorate Plans 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 2 for Economy Directorate Plans 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance Update

	10 Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2019-20: Quarter 2 Performance Update

	11 Work Programme 2019/2020

